1949

The State of Utah v. Joe G. Trujillo : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the defendant from a verdict of a jury of guilty of murder in the first degree of one Max Lopez, entered in the Seventh Judicial District in and For Carbon County. The order holding the defendant to answer to said charge was signed by S. J. Sweetring, committing magistrate, on July 1, 1948. The District Attorney filed his information herein on July 2, 1948, and on July 6, 1948 the committing magistrate filed in the District Court the record of

the proceedings had before him. The defendant filed a Motion To Quash the information on July 12, 1948 on the ground that the District Court did not have jurisdiction of him or the offense, which was denied, and the defendant entered his plea of not guilty thereafter. Trial of the action commenced on July 19, 1948 and continued from day to day until the jury reached its verdict of murder in the first degree without recommendation on July 23, 1948. A motion for a new trial was filed on July 28, 1948. Sentence of death by shooting was pronounced by the Court on July 28, 1948 and the defendant thereafter filed his Notice Of Appeal on September 25, 1948.

FACTS

Max Lopez, a resident of Hiawatha, Carbon County, Utah, was found dead in his automobile with two gun shot wounds in his body at a point about five or six miles from Price on the highway leading from Price to Hiawatha in said county. The death was first reported to Douglas Jensen, a traveler on the highway, by one Joe Herrera, who flagged Mr. Jensen as he approached the scene of the shooting (R. 183). Only four persons were present at the time of the shooting--Max Lopez

Sponsored by the S. A. Quinby Manuscript Library, funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

and Joe Herrera, who had arrived at the scene of the offense in a car owned by Lopez and driven by Herrera, and Joe Mondragon and the defendant who had arrived at the scene of the offense in a car owned and driven by the defendant.

Because the testimony of the defendant and the witnesses Mondragon and Herrera is conflicting and differs materially on many points, a brief statement of the testimony of each is separately set forth.

Herrera testified as follows: That he had gone from Hiawatha to Price with Lopez and arrived about nine P. M. and was at the Carbon Bar and White Star Bar with Lopez (R. 17) and later at the Kentucky Bar and New Deal Bar. That he first saw the defendant at the White Star and saw defendant talk to Lopez at the New Deal Bar and saw them go away somewhere together (R. 22). Then he and Lopez went to the car of Lopez but he doesn't remember how they got to the car (R. 24, 26). Lopez drove a short distance toward Hiawatha and then asked Herrera to drive. That Trujillo passed them in his car and stopped immediately in front of them. That Herrera applied the brakes and stopped

(R. 28). (For Mondragon testimony on this point see R. 143, 144.) (For defendant's testimony on this point see R. 398.) That he put out the car lights in stopping suddenly and while readjusting the lights defendant came to the Lopez car by walking and asked what was the matter (R. 30, 33, 38). That Herrera asked why defendant stopped in front of them and defendant said "Come this way and I will take both of you on." That Herrera and Lopez got out of the car and Lopez followed Herrera to the other side of the road where defendant was and Herrera saw a gun in his hand (R. 35). That defendant said he was going to shoot them (R. 38). That Herrera offered to fight if gun was thrown away, then took off his shirt, then came in closer and grabbed defendant's wrist (R. 39). That Mondragon and Lopez were out of the cars and near him and defendant (R. 38). Defendant hit him in stomach as they wrestled. Herrera became dizzy and then heard a shot (R. 40, 41, 42) and while in this dizzy condition he heard two more shots and saw defendant go from Lopez car to his own car and enter it and drive away (R. 46, 47). That he didn't see anyone else around as he went to the Lopez car

(R. 47). That he opened the door of the Lopez car and saw Lopez inside (R. 47). On cross examination Herrera admitted he was drunk on the highway at the time of the shooting (R. 82, 85); that the defendant talked friendly to him on second conversation at a bar in Price; and that there hadn't been any trouble during the second conversation (R. 71, 77, 78, 79). That he offered to fight defendant out on the highway and took off his shirt to do so (R. 89, 90, 101) and that he did not remember that Mondragon ever came near him after any of the shots (R. 121, 142).

Mondragon testified as follows: That he was with defendant when he saw the Lopez car parked by the road (R. 143, 144). That defendant said he was going to stop and see the boys, went past and parked and got out and went in the direction of the Lopez car. That he got out when he heard one shot and saw defendant and Herrera talking. That Herrera asked defendant if defendant was going to kill him and defendant said "No, but don't get near me." Herrera went to Trujillo and they started to wrestle. That he didn't see anything in defendant's hand (R. 145). Heard another

shot as they wrestled and Herrera fell (R. 150).

Lopez was at the side of Mondragon or near him when the wrestling started (R. 153). When Herrera fell Mondragon went to where he lay and helped him to the rear of the Lopez car where he left him and went to defendant's car and passed defendant where the latter was in front of and to the left of the Lopez car (R. 151). After he passed defendant he heard another shot behind him and he looked back and saw defendant coming behind him (R. 152). Both got in the car of defendant and drove away and that defendant admitted shooting (R. 154). Mondragon admitted he was drunk (R. 160) and that he lied to the police when apprehended with the defendant.

The defendant testified as follows: That on the day of the shooting he took Mondragon and others from Castle Gate to Helper where all did errands including purchase of whisky for defendant and wine for Mondragon and then all returned to Castle Gate in the car of defendant (R. 366, 367). Mondragon put the whiskey in the glove compartment of the car of defendant which already contained the pistol involved (R.

388). That defendant and Mondragon again left Castle Gate later in the evening and went to Helper and then to Price (R. 389, 390). They met and drank with Herrera and Lopez in various bars in Price and in the Trujillo car (R. 392, 393, 395). The two groups separated and defendant and Mondragon left later for Hiawatha to get the daughter of defendant (R. 397). That he saw Herrera and Lopez parked on the road to Hiawatha at a point about 5 or 6 miles from Price and that Herrera was waving in the road to stop. That defendant stopped ahead of parked car (R. 398, 399). That he got out and Herrera was walking toward him and told him the lights were wrong and called him a vile name, took off his shirt and commenced to fight with defendant (R. 399, 400). That Lopez and Mondragon were out of their cars and that Mondragon called Lopez a vile name and ordered Lopez to stay out of the fight (R. 401). That during the fight between defendant and Herrera Mondragon fired five shots from gun of defendant taken by Mondragon from glove compartment, called to defendant asking him to leave. That defendant, hearing the shots, let go of Herrera and saw Lopez fall

in the road (R. 401). That Mondragon and defendant drove away and agreed on a false story if Lopez was dead because Mondragon had done the shooting and the gun was owned by defendant (R. 407, 408, 409). That defendant adhered to the agreed falsehoods through his testimony at the inquest but told the truth when Mondragon did not adhere to the agreed falsehoods at the inquest (R. 409, 416). That defendant and Mondragon went toward Hiawatha, turned back toward Price, again turned toward Hiawatha, and then again toward Price and were apprehended on the highway. That Mondragon threw the gun and shells from the car (R. 414).

Other testimony:

Albert Passic, a deputy sheriff, found five empty shells by the side of the road connecting Price and Hiawatha (R. 216, 219) and the gun (R. 221, 224) in the vicinity where defendant had told officers it had been thrown from the car by Mondragon.

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

1. The trial court erred in overruling and denying ground No. 2 of the Motion To Quash of defendant,

to-wit: "That the Court has no jurisdiction of the offense charged, or the person of the defendant" and also erred in denying the motion to arrest judgment made on the same grounds.

2. The trial court erred in overruling and denying ground No. 3 of the Motion of defendant to Quash the information, to-wit: "That the District Attorney had no authority to file the information herein."

3. The trial court erred in its Instruction No. 2 in its definition of murder in the second degree because said instruction was incomplete, misleading, inaccurate and failed to adequately distinguish between murder in the first degree and murder in the second degree.

4. The trial court erred in paragraph No. 1 of its Instruction No. 6 in its definition of "malice aforethought" in that said instruction is misleading, too narrow, inaccurate and does not correctly state the law on the subject.

5. The trial court erred in the last paragraph of Instruction No. 6 in allowing the jury too great latitude in the matter of theories of the crime; and in

not placing reasonable limits or restrictions on the theories of the evidence the jury could use in determining guilt.

6. The trial court erred in giving paragraph No. 3 of Instruction No. 7 in instructing the jury that it is second degree murder if death results from an assault with a deadly weapon with intent to do great bodily harm without instructing the jury concerning malice and the pertinent essentials of murder in the second degree.

7. The trial court erred in Instruction No. 8 in failing to instruct the jury that intent to kill is a necessary element of the crime of voluntary manslaughter.

8. The trial court erred in Instruction No. 9 in failing to instruct the jury that it must find that the unlawful act or acts of the defendant was the proximate cause of death.

9. The trial court erred in its instruction No. 12 and gave to the jury an incomplete, misleading and inaccurate instruction because of the failure or omission to instruct that intoxication must be considered in connection with the formation of intent in the crime of voluntary manslaughter.

10. The trial court erred in Instruction No. 12 and gave to the jury an incomplete, misleading and inaccurate statement of the law governing intoxication in such cases by its failure to also instruct on intoxication in relation to premeditation and deliberation.

11. The trial court erred in its Instruction No. 19 in that the instruction does not accurately state the law of evidence of prior conviction of a felony and does not give a rule for guidance of the jury in applying the law on prior conviction to a definition of credibility.

12. That the trial court did and allowed acts in the trial of the action that were prejudicial to the substantial rights of the defendant in permitting the interpreter to dictate, dominate and control the proceedings of the court and the examination of three witnesses examined by interpretation during the proceedings; in failing to perform its duty to instruct, supervise and control the interpreter and all counsel in the use of an interpreter; and in continuing the taking of testimony of the witness Herrera by the use

of interpretation when it clearly appeared that an interpreter was not necessary to adduce his testimony.

13. That the verdict is contrary to the evidence in the case.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION IN A FELONY CASE UNTIL THE PROCEEDINGS FROM THE COMMITTING MAGISTRATE ARE FILED IN THE DISTRICT COURT.

The judgment roll contains a Complaint (JR 1), a copy of Commitment (JR 3), a Motion To Quash Information (JR 11) and an Affidavit of S. J. Sweetring (JR 50), committing magistrate, to the effect that the commitment was not signed in the presence of the defendant and the officer having him in charge nor delivered to the officer with the defendant at the time of making the order holding defendant to answer as required by Utah Code Annotated 1943, Chapter 108-15-25, and a Motion In Arrest Of Judgment (R. 466, 467). Chapter 108-15-23 provides:

"If the magistrate orders the defendant to be committed, he must make out a commitment, signed by himself with his official title, and deliver it with the defendant to the officer to whom he is committed,

or, if that officer is not present, to a peace officer, who must immediately deliver the defendant into the proper custody, together with the commitment."

It is contended that compliance with said section is jurisdictional. That unless there is compliance with said section there has not been an examination and commitment as provided by law that will invest the District Court with jurisdiction. The Utah Code Annotated 1943, Chapter 105-17-1 provides:

"When a defendant has been examined and committed as provided in this code it shall be the duty of the district attorney, within thirty days thereafter, to file in the district court of the county in which the offense is triable an information charging the defendant with the offense for which he is held to answer. If the district attorney fails to file the information within the time specified, or when required so to do by the court, he shall be deemed guilty of contempt, and may be prosecuted for neglect of duty as in other cases."

Two significant matters are contained in this provision: First, the word "committed" and the question as to what it means; second, the clause "examined and committed as provided in this code." Our code requires a magistrate to make an order holding the defendant to answer (Chapter 105-15-19) and that said order must be endorsed on the Complaint; that the magistrate must also make and deliver a commitment and

deliver it with the defendant to the officer and he must include the fact of issuing an order of commitment in his order holding the defendant to answer (Chapter 106-15-23). The affidavit of the committing magistrate shows a failure to comply with one of the above essentials.

The cases on the point of when the committing magistrate divests himself of jurisdiction and the District Court thereupon acquires it are not numerous but recent cases appear to hold uniformly against the argument in this assignment since the case of People v. Tarbox held that the district court acquired jurisdiction when the committing magistrate signed the order of commitment. That all else thereafter was merely ministerial. People v. Tarbox, 115 Cal. 57, 46 P. 896. An examination of the California Penal Code to determine the definition of an order of commitment indicates a difference in the requirements between Utah and California on the point of when the committing magistrate divests himself of jurisdiction and indicates that the California order of commitment is an order holding defendant to answer. California Penal Code §809 pre-

vides: "Information to be filed. When a defendant has been examined and committed as provided in sec. 872 of this code * * *." California Penal Code §872 provides:

"Defendant, when and how committed:

"If, however, it appears from the examination that public offense has been committed and there is sufficient cause to believe the defendant guilty thereof, the magistrate must make or endorse on the complaint an order signed by him, to the following effect: 'It appearing to me that the offense in the within complaint mentioned (or any offense according to the fact), stating generally the nature thereof, has been committed, and that there is sufficient cause to believe the within named A. B. guilty thereof, I order him to be held to answer to the same.'"

Under the Tarbox case jurisdiction is acquired when the order holding a defendant to answer is signed as provided in the aforesaid section 872 of the California Penal Code. Our section 105-15-19 is similar. But the California section 872 is headed: "Defendant, when and how committed". Our section 105-15-19 is headed "Defendant held to answer - order". But our statute 105-17-1 which corresponds with the California section 809 is broader than the California statute. It does not only require compliance with 105-15-19, it requires compliance "as provided in this code". The

defendant contends that this is not a case of an act properly done as in State v. Laris, 78 N. 183, 2 Pac. (2d) 243 where the oversight was corrected, but a case where an act necessary to jurisdiction was not, in fact done. It is contended that the reasonable meaning of the phrase "as provided in this code" means that all acts required to be done by the committing magistrate must be done to confer jurisdiction on the district court unless defendant waives compliance or performance of said acts.

It is, therefore, contended further that the Seventh District Court did not have jurisdiction of this action at the time of filing the information herein for the reason that the committing magistrate had not, at the time of filing said information, performed all the acts required by the code. He had not filed the proceedings in the district court. Defendant contends that the filing of the complaint, warrant and transcript in the district court is the act of divestment of his jurisdiction under our statutes and the act conferring jurisdiction on the district court. Even the Tarbox case, which is to the contrary, condemned the practice

of filing in the district court before the arrival of the return of the committing magistrate and had to resort to the theory of ministerial acts to justify its holding.

It is submitted that the rule prior to the Tarbox case is the better one. That rule held that the filing of the certified transcript, attached to the complaint in the office of the clerk of the district court conferred the jurisdiction on the court. Lawrence v. State (Okla.), 262 Pac. 862; State v. Freeman, 95 U. 125, 71 Pac. (2d) 196. The Freeman case announced the rule contended for by the defendant but is not thought that full reliance can be given it because not in the point involved here. It is submitted that the rule advanced by the defendant as proper and correct is more consistent with good practice and is less likely to result in confusion. It prevents overlapping of activity between courts, it makes for certainty and correctness of dates, names and witness lists. Under the holding of the Tarbox case the district attorney may become a legal runner between courts basing his information on notes of his making or that of his clerk.

To base jurisdiction on the filing of the record in the district court is more in accord with other established law. Only the record of the committing magistrate on file in the district court may be used by the district court to determine the regularity of the proceedings before the committing magistrate. Turner v. People, 33 Mich. 363. If it is not in his court he is helpless or must make a trip to a lower court if we follow the Tarbox case.

It has also been held that a committing magistrate may amend his commitment at any time, Oblaser v. Wayne, Circuit Judge, 159 Mich. 665, 124 N. W. 590; People v. Wright, 89 Mich. 70, 50 N. W. 792. What is the situation in the district court if an information is filed on a felony bind over and an amended order does not hold the defendant to answer? What is the situation in the district court if jurisdiction is conferred by an order holding defendant to answer and an information is filed before receipt of the proper papers from below and the order of the committing magistrate is vacated for further proceedings or to correct subsequent obvious error before the proceedings are transmitted to the district court?

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
This document was generated by eOCR, may contain errors.

It has also been held that the function of a district attorney is ministerial only in filing an information, People v. Bomar, 73 Cal. App. 372, 238 Pac. 758. Should a ministerial act be done in a case of a felony except in connection with a matter already of record in the court? Care and precision in procedure and administration of justice is in favor of the rule advanced by the defendant. Where an information is filed based on a defective order of commitment, there is no action pending before the court and the court requires no jurisdiction over the defendant. People v. Thompson, 84 Cal. 598, 24 Pac. 384. The same rule ought to apply to a case where the information is filed at a time when it can't be determined whether it does or does not have jurisdiction because filed when order of commitment as provided by our code is not before the court. The Tarbox case and those which follow it announce and legalize bad practice indeed and should not be followed in our courts.

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