1949

# The State of Utah v. Joe G. Trujillo : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF CASE

The defendant and appellant, Joe Garcia Trujillo, appeals from a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree without recommendation, entered in the Seventh Judicial District Court in and for Carbon County, Utah. The defendant stood charged with unlawfully taking the life of Max Lopez on or about May 26, 1948, in Carbon County,

There was some conflict in the testimony at the trial. Counsel for the defendant, in his statement of facts, reviewed

the testimony of each principal witness, indicating these conflicts. However, we feel he has fairly and adequately presented the facts as adduced at the trial, and it would, therefore, serve no purpose to re-state them here.

The defendant has made thirteen assignments of error. We shall discuss them in order, though not in each instance separately.

## ARGUMENT

### I

THE CONTENTION THAT THE DISTRICT COURT HAD NO JURISDICTION AND THAT THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY HAD NO AUTHORITY TO FILE THE INFORMATION BECAUSE THE INFORMATION WAS FILED IN A DISRICT COURT BEFORE THE PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE COMMITTING MAGISTRATE WERE FILED IS WITHOUT MERIT.

The record shows the following regarding the commitment of the defendant.

The preliminary hearing was held June 29th, June 30th, and July 1st, 1948, (JR, pages 7 and 8). The order of commitment was made and signed by the committing magistrate July 1, 1948, (JR. 3). The information was filed in the district court July 2, 1948, (JR. 9). The transcript of proceedings before the committing magistrate was signed by the committing magistrate July 6, 1948. (JR. 8), and the order of commitment together with the transcript of proceedings before the committing magistrate were actually filed in the district court

July 6, 1948. The defendant's plea to the information was made by a motion to quash, entered July 12, 1948. (JR. 11).

Defense counsel contends that the district court acquired no jurisdiction over the matter until the order of commitment and the transcript of proceedings before the committing magistrate were filed in the district court; that the information was filed by the district attorney prior to the filing of the order of commitment; that the district court thus had no jurisdiction, and that the defendant's motion to quash should have been sustained on grounds two and three contained therein. (JR. 11).

The record shows that the order of commitment was actually made and entered of record by the committing magistrate on July 1, 1948, (JR. 3).

It is the state's position that the jurisdiction of the district court attached upon the making and entering of an order of commitment, and that the subsequent acts of filing the transcript of proceedings before the committing magistrate and the order of commitment are ministerial acts which, at least in the absence of prejudicial error, have no effect whatsoever upon the jurisdiction of the district court or the authority of the district attorney to file the information therein.

These questions, the validity of the information filed in the district court before the order of commitment, and the jurisdiction of the district court thus acquired, arose in the case of *People v. Tarbox*, 115 Cal. 57, 46 P. 896. The Supreme Court of California had this to say:

“The question \* \* \* is when is the defendant legally committed? We think that occurs when the magistrate has acted judicially, and has made and signed the order of commitment. His judicial functions then cease, and the return of the depositions and order of commitment is a mere ministerial duty. In *People v. Wallace*, 94 Cal. 499, 29 P. 950 it was said: ‘It is doubtless true that the order holding to answer must be in writing; but when, as a result of an examination, such an order has in fact been made and entered upon the docket of the justice, it would seem that no further action on his part is necessary to authorize the district attorney to file an information against the defendant for the offense named in the order.’ In that case—as in the case at bar—the order holding the defendant to answer before the Supreme Court was entered upon the justice’s docket, but was not endorsed on the complaint or depositions.”

The California court has consistently held that a motion to set aside the information on the ground that it was filed before the record of the preliminary examination and the order of commitment by the magistrate was received by the clerk of the district court should be overruled where such information was filed after the preliminary examination in fact had been held and the order of commitment had been made and entered of record by the magistrate and where prior to the trial the record of the preliminary examination and the order of commitment are duly filed with the clerk of the district court. *People v. Bettencourt*, 64 Cal. App. 243, 221 P. 403. *People v. Sacramento Butchers Protective Ass’n. et. al.*, 12 Cal. App. 471, 107 P. 712, 716, *People v. Tanner*, 28 Cal. App. 766, 154 P. 34. *Tanner*



Furthermore, this rule has been followed elsewhere. In the case of *Williams et. al. v. State*, 6 Okla. Cr. 373, 118 P. 1006, 1007, the court stated that:

“It is the fact that there was a preliminary examination or a waiver thereof and a judicial determination thereon by the examining magistrate that a felony has been committed and that there is probable cause to believe the defendant guilty thereof, that authorizes the county attorney to file an information in the district court charging the crime committed according to the facts in evidence on such examination or for the offense charged in the preliminary information when such examination has been waived by the defendant, and such an adjudication is necessary to confer jurisdiction upon the district court.”

The cases of *People v. Thompson*, 84 Cal. 598, 24 P. 384, and *People v. Bomar*, 73 Cal. App. 372, 238 P. 758 are distinguishable under the rule cited above, in that the order of commitment in each case was itself defective. There is nothing in the case at bar which indicates any defect in the order of commitment itself.

Counsel for the defendant urges that the California statutes are distinguishable from those of this state. A comparison of section 105-15-19 *Utah Code Annotated* 1943, and *California Penal Code* section 872 will show that they are practically identical. Defense counsel attempts to distinguish them in their headings, but it will be noted that headings to sections of the Utah Code are not a part of the legislative enactment but rather are merely editorial.

Defense counsel further contends that the phrase “as provided in this code” from section 105-17-1 *Utah Code Annotated* 1943, means “that all acts required to be done by the committing magistrate must be done to confer jurisdiction on the district court.” (Appellant’s brief P. 16). With that general proposition we have no quarrel. However, it is our position that when the committing magistrate made and entered the order of commitment, he exercised the judicial function which conferred jurisdiction on the district court under the provision of 105-17-1; the subsequent filing of the order and transcript of proceedings with the clerk of the district court was ministerial merely, and the district attorney had authority to file the information. The acts precedent to the conferring of *jurisdiction* on the district court—the making of the order of commitment, reducing it to writing and its signature by the committing magistrate—were all done July 1, 1948, one day *prior* to the filing of the information.

The order of commitment is regular on its face (JR. 3). The transcript of proceedings before the magistrate shows that:

“The Court found that the offense of Murder in the First Degree had been committed; that there was sufficient cause to believe the Defendant, Joe G. Trujillo, also known as Joe Garcia Trujillo, guilty thereof; and *it was ordered by the Court* that said Defendant be held to answer to said charge; and that he be committed to the Sheriff of Carbon County without bail.” (JR. 8, *italics added*).

It is true that the affidavit of the magistrate (JR. 50) indicates that the order of commitment was not actually prepared and signed in the presence of the defendant. It does

indicate that this was done later on the same day, July 1, 1948. However, the affiant does state "That at the conclusion of the preliminary hearing as aforesaid affiant herein made an Order holding the defendant for trial in the District Court on the offense set forth in the Complaint on file in the City Court of Price, Utah." (J.R. 50). The order was made "at the conclusion of the preliminary hearing," and it is submitted that the reduction to writing is ministerial. If this delay in reducing the order of commitment to writing be error, there is nothing in the record to show that the rights of defendant were prejudiced thereby, and as set forth above, such error would not be jurisdictional.

Defense counsel's entire argument under points one and two of his brief shows nothing that was prejudicial to the rights of the defendant. Nor does the record indicate that the defendant was prejudiced in any manner by the procedure followed in making the order of commitment and in filing the information. Section 105-43-1 *Utah Code Annotated* 1943, provides as follows:

"After hearing an appeal the court must give judgment without regard to errors or defects which do not affect the substantial rights of the parties. If error has been committed, it shall not be presumed to have resulted in prejudice. The court must be satisfied that it has that effect before it is warranted in reversing the judgment."

It is submitted that the defendant has shown nothing, in or out of the record, that would indicate prejudice to the defendant in any manner by the method used in his commitment and the filing of the information.

## II

THE TRIAL COURT, IN INSTRUCTION NO. 2, PROPERLY DISTINGUISHED BETWEEN MURDER IN THE FIRST AND SECOND DEGREES.

In its instruction on murder in the first degree, the trial court submitted two theories to the jury:

“ \* \* \* the slayer must before the commission of the act or acts resulting in the death of the deceased have *deliberately* and *premeditatedly* formed a specific intention or design to kill the person slain; or, must have *deliberately* and *premeditatedly* formed a specific intention or design to kill another and in the attempt to kill such intended victim kill the person slain instead.” (JR. 15 italics added).

The court then instructed on the element of time for reflection and consideration prior to delivering the fatal blow.

In paragraph 5 of instruction No. 2, which instructs on murder in the second degree, the trial court stated that the jury must, in order to find the defendant guilty of murder in the second degree, find that:

“ \* \* \* The slayer before the commission of the act resulting in death has a specific design or intention thought out before hand to cause great bodily injury to the deceased, or an intention or design thought out beforehand to do an act knowing the reasonable and natural consequences thereof would be likely to cause great bodily injury to the deceased.” (JR. 16).

The instruction on murder in the first degree contains the words “deliberately” and premeditatedly;” the instruction on murder in the second degree does not. Paragraph 2 of the instruction defines these words:

“ \* \* \* The terms, ‘aforethought, premeditation, and deliberation’ mean to think out, plan, or design beforehand. The term ‘deliberation,’ has the additional quality or meaning of planning or designing in a cool state of the blood or mind.” (JR. 15).

We submit that the trial court adequately distinguished between murder in the first degree and murder in the second degree. *State v. Russell*, 106 U. 116, 145 P. (2d) 1005, and *State v. Thompson*, 110 U. 113, 170 P. (2d) 153.

### III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN INSTRUCTION NO. 6 IN THAT IT DID NOT INSTRUCT ON “MALICE AFORETHOUGHT,” OR “MINIMIZE THE REQUIREMENT OF PLANNING, DESIGNING, OR THINKING OUT BEFOREHAND.”

Defense counsel urges that the instruction in the first paragraph of instruction No. 6 is erroneous in that it does not spell out the equivalent of “malice aforethought,” that it “minimizes the requirement of planning, designing and thinking out beforehand.” (Appellant’s brief p. 24).

It will be noted that the second and third paragraphs of instruction No. 2 (JR. 15) define aforethought, premeditation, deliberation, and malice, and that these definitions are clear and complete. In those paragraphs the requirement of planning, designing and thinking out of the homicide is thoroughly set out.

We believe the rule to be that jury instructions must be construed as a whole, and if, construed all together, they give

the necessary elements of the crime, then it is not error that one instruction taken alone, is not complete. *State v. Evans*, 107 U. 1, 151 P (2d) 196, 198.

#### IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT, IN THE LAST PARAGRAPH OF INSTRUCTION NO. 6, LEAVE THE JURY TO DECIDE ON ANY THEORY OF THE EVIDENCE.

The paragraph in question is quoted:

“OR. If, from any theory of the evidence in this case your minds are satisfied beyond all reasonable doubt that the defendant fired one or more shots into the body of Max Lopez and that before doing so he formed a design or intent wilfully, deliberately, and premeditatedly to kill either of the persons there present and that such shot or shots were fired pursuant to such intent and that a wound or wounds inflicted from the firing of any shot or shots so fired caused or contributed to the death of Max Lopez, then you should find by your verdict that the defendant is guilty of murder in the first degree.” (JR 22).

It will be noted that, in the second paragraph of instruction No. 2, (JR 15) the court submitted to the jury two theories, or as they are designated in the *Russell* case, *supra*, categories for murder in the first degree — deliberate, premeditated, specific intent to kill the particular person slain, or deliberate, premeditated, specific intent to kill another, in the attempt of which the particular person slain is killed. The last paragraph of instruction No. 6 combines these in the words “to kill either of the persons there present.”

It is submitted that the phrase, “any theory of the evidence,” is limited by that which follows in the quoted paragraph. Further, under the rule that jury instructions are to be construed as a whole, *State v. Evans*, supra, this phrase is limited by the second paragraph of instruction No. 2, and its use is not prejudicial error.

## V

UNDER THE RULE THAT JURY INSTRUCTIONS ARE TO BE CONSTRUED AS A WHOLE, THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN ITS SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS ON THE DEGREES OF HOMICIDE.

Defendant’s assignments of error Numbers VI, VII, and VIII are based on the theory that an instruction on one element or another is omitted in the specific instructions on murder in the second degree, voluntary manslaughter, and involuntary manslaughter. That is, defense counsel urges that in the specific instructions, wherein the law is applied to the evidence adduced on the trial, the court in each instruction must set forth all essential elements of the particular offense on which it is instructing. We do not take this to be so.

Instruction No. 2 (JR. 15, 16, 17) is the general instruction on murder in the first degree and included offenses. We believe that this instruction spells out the essential elements of each offense, and that, when read in connection with the specific instructions Numbers 7, 8 and 9, which apply the law of the included offenses—murder in the second degree, voluntary manslaughter, and involuntary manslaughter—to the



evidence in the case, the jury was properly instructed, and no error was committed. Instructions to the jury must be considered as a whole. *State v. Evans*, supra.

## VI

### THE COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS ON THE EFFECT OF INTOXICATION.

Defense counsel assigns as error the fact that the trial court, in instruction No. 12, did not include a separate paragraph instructing on intoxication in connection with voluntary manslaughter.

It will be noted that the court did instruct regarding the consideration to be given intoxication where the actual existence of intent is necessary to a crime.

“But, whenever *the actual existence of any particular motive or intent is a necessary element to constitute any particular species or degree of crime* you may take into consideration the fact, if it is shown to be a fact, that the defendant was intoxicated at the time in determining the purpose, motive, or intent with which he committed the act.” (Instr. 12, JR. 29, italics added). The trial court then instructed specifically on intoxication in connection with murder in the first and second degrees.

We submit that the instruction quoted above, together with the general instruction on voluntary manslaughter contained in instruction No. 2, (JR. 16) sufficed.

Defense counsel also assigns as error the fact that the trial court, in its instruction on intoxication, did not instruct on premeditation and deliberation.

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